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Independent auditor’s report
To the management of China Construction Bank Corporation Macau Branch

We have audited the financial statements of China Construction Bank Corporation Macau Branch (the
“Branch”) set out on pages 3 to 77, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024, and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in Head
Office account and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibilities for the financial statements

The management of the Branch are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards set out by the Macao Special Administrative
Region as promulgated under Order of the Secretary for Economy and Finance No. 44/2020 (*Macao
Financial Reporting Standards™ or “MFRSs"), and for such internal control as directors determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards issued by the Professional Committee of
Accountants under the Notice No. 2/2021/CPC. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

A memnber firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Independent auditor’s report (continued)
To the management of China Construction Bank Corporation Macau Branch

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Branch as at
31 December 2024, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Macao Financial Reporting Standards.

CHAN Wai CPA
Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Macao
26 March 2025

(%]

A memper firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited



CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK CORPORATION MACAU BRANCH

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Year ended 31 December 2024

Interest income
Interest expense
NET INTEREST INCOME

Fee and commission income

Fee and commission expenses

NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME
Net trading (loss)/income

Net gain in financial instruments

Other operating income
Operating expenses

Net reversal of impairment allowances
PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Income tax expense

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Notes

D

= o %

11

12

2024 2023
MOP MOP
4,045,154,622 4,786,645,020
(3,606,605,151) (4,539,035,869)
438,549,471 247,609,151
302,915,383 429,139,036
(221,375,986) (319,300,604)
81,539,397 109,838,432
(192,119,859) 26,170,786
48,762,373 16,798,236
41,134 8,495
(196,722,964) (188,052,374)
180,049,552 212,372,726
49,046,250 6,296,098
229,095,802 218,668,824
(30,887,694) (23,404,024)
198,208,108 195,264,800




CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK CORPORATION MACAU BRANCH

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 December 2024

Notes

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income:
Changes in fair value
Release upon disposal/redemption reclassified
to profit or loss
Changes in allowance for expected credit losses 11
Income tax effect

Net other comprehensive (loss)/income that may be
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FOR
THE YEAR * NET OF TAX

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE
YEAR

2024 2023
MOP MOP
198,208,108 195,264,800
(56,250,417) (6,998,965)
44,874,088 65,806,164
3,019,912 2,768,231
1,002,771 (7,389,052)
(7,353,646) 54,186,378
(7,353,646) 54,186,378
(7,353,646) 54,186,378
190,854,462 249,451,178




CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK CORPORATION MACAU BRANCH

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2024

ASSETS

Cash and balance with banks

Deposits with Monetary Authority of Macao
Placements with banks

Advances and other accounts

Investments in securities

Derivatives financial instruments

Property and equipment

Other assets

Deferred tax assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES

Deposits and balances with banks and
other financial institutions

Deposits from customers

Other liabilities

Derivatives financial instruments

Debt securities issued

Current tax payable

Total liabilities

HEAD OFFICE ACCOUNT
Head Office fund

Retained earnings

Other reserves

Total Head Office account

Total liabilities and Head Office account

Notes 2024 2023
MOP MOP
13 4.235,856,533 11,208,267,422
14 453,226,978 485,158,290
15 29,197,632,456 42,696,299,214
16 41,558,699,264 32.884,840,406
17 31,977,318,912 23,356,314,079
19 1,214,983,570 284,511,165
18 24,490,948 23,941,939
20 621,048,687 321,453,528
21 14,314,001 14,964,271
109,297,571,349 111,275,750,314
68,183,088,280 56,675,854,782
22 17,047,903,225 14,192,314,639
23 509,501,800 462,104,097
19 1,163,162,677 271,462,041
24 18,554,236,756 36,026,823,805
44,179,663 42,546,464
105,502,072,401 107,671,105,828
800,000,000 800,000,000
2,834,597,052 2,771,480,098
160,901,896 33,164,388
3,795,498,948 3,604,644.,486
109,297,571,349 111,275,750,314

" GeWenlie

General Manager



CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK CORPORATION MACAU BRANCH

STATEMENT OF HEAD OFFICE ACCOUNT

Year ended 31 December 2024

Al | January 2023
Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income for the year:

Changes in fair value of debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income,net of tax

Net changes in allowance of expected credit losses of debt
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income

Total comprehensive income for the Year

Transfer from regulatory reserve

AL 31 December 2023
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year:

Changes in fair value of debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, net of tax

Net changes in allowance of expected credit losses of debt
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income

Total comprehensive income for the Year
Transfer from regulatory reserve
At 31 December 2024

Head Office Fair value Regulatory Retained

fund reserve reserve eamings Total

MOP MOP MOP MOP Mop
800,000,000 (71,665,293) 57,264,332 2,569.594.269  3,355,193,308
- - - 195,264 800 195,264,800

- 51,418,147 - - 51,418,147

- 2,768,231 - - 2,768,231

. 54,186,378 - 195,264,800 249,451,178

- - (6,621,029) 6,621,029 -
800,000,000 (17.478,915)%  50,643,303*  2.771,480,098  3,604,644,486
- - - 198,208,108 198,208,108
(10,373,558) - - (10,373,558)

- 3,019912 - - 3,019.912

- (7,353,646) - 198,208,108 190,854 462

- - 135,091,154 (135,091,154) -
800,000,000 (24,832,561)* 185,734,457*  2,834,597,052  3,795498,948

Fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of financial assets measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (formerly known as available-for-sale financial assets) until the financial assets are
derecognized and is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies adopted for the measurement of these financial

assets at fair value,

Regulatory reserve is established to satisfy the regulatory requirements Notice no. | 2/2021-AMCM issued by Monetary
Authority of Macao (“AMCM"). Movement in this reserve is made directly through retained earnings.

*These reserve accounts comprise the reserves of MOP160,901,896 (2023: MOP33,164,388) in the statement of financial

position,



CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK CORPORATION MACAU BRANCH

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 December 2024

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Charge for impairment allowances
Interest income from investments in debt securities
Other interest income
Interest expense
Dividend income
Gain on disposal/redemption of investments in debt
securities, net
Exchange adjustments

Decrease in placements with banks with original maturity
more than three months

Decrease in minimum reserves with the monetary authorities

(Increase)/decrease in positive value of derivative financial
instruments

(Increase)/decrease in advances and other accounts

Decrease in investment in securities

(Increase)/decrease in other assets

Increase/(decrease) in deposits and balances with banks and
other financial institutions

Increase/(decrease) in deposits from customers

(Decrease)/increase in debt securities issued

Increase in negative value of derivative financial instruments

Increase in other liabilities

Cash flows from operations
Macao complementary tax paid
Interest received

Interest paid

Net cash flows (used in)/ from operating activities

Notes

— 00

L=V, I = =

2024
MOP

229,095,802

2023
MOP

218,668,824

6,576,313 5,481,654
(49,046,250) (6,296,098)
(820,829,099) (676,988,171)
(3,224,325,523) (4,109,656,849)
3,606,605,151 4,539,035,869
(19,313) (4,506)
(44,874,088) (14,424,618)
(677,256,129) (153,529,817)
(974,073,136) (197,713,712)
11,028,117,952 14,024,278,459
113,930,207 100,177,000
(930,472,407) 484,798,590
(9,468,434,128)  20,059,967,058
375,331,934 444,547,119
(299,595,157) 907,377,722
12,550,265,601 (20,290,585,338)
2,855,588,586 (5,274,705,694)
(17,472,587,049) 937,163,734
891,700,636 34,688,954
72,890,038 1,938,001
(1,257,336,923) 11,231,931,893
(27,601,454) (70,329,716)
4,033,844,407 5,487,789,101
(4,649,637,254) (5,861,053,674)

(1,900,731,224)

10,788,337,604

continued/...



CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK CORPORATION MACAU BRANCH
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2024

2023
MOP

232,441,053
4,506
(26,102,769,380)

18,824,694,595
(11,549,894)

(7,057,179.120)

3,731,158,484

9,959,012,984

13,690,171,468

2,139,443,605
485,158,290

11,548,114,573
(482,545,000)

Notes 2024
MOP
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received from investments in debt securities 445,497,165
Dividends received 9 19,313
Purchases of investments in securities (29,715,937,464)
Proceeds from disposal and redemption of investments in
securities 22,212,320,918
Purchases of items of property and equipment 18 (7,125,322)
Net cash flows used in investing activities (7,065,225,390)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (8,965,956,614)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 13,690,171,468
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 4,724,214,854
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
Cash on hand and current accounts with banks as stated in
the statement of financial position 13 1,628,174,913
Deposits with monetary authorities 14 453,226,978
Placements with banks with original maturity at or within
three months 2,608,346,616
Less: Minimum reserves with the monetary authorities 14 (368,614,793)
Add: Investments in securities with original maturity less
than three months 403,081,140
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the statement of cash
flows 4,724,214,854

13,690,171,468




CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK CORPORATION MACAU BRANCH

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

2.1

CORPORATE INFORMATION

China Construction Bank Corporation Macau Branch (the “Branch™) was established on 7 June 2014
in the Macao Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China (“Macao SAR™ or
“Macao”). The Branch is a licensed bank authorised under the laws of Macao SAR and regulated by
rules issued by Autoridade Monetaria de Macau (“AMCM”). The registered office and principal
place of business of the Branch is located at 5/F, Circle Square, 61 Avenida de Almeida Ribeiro,
Macao. The Branch’s head office (the “Head Office™) is China Construction Bank Corporation,
which was established in the People’s Republic of China. The Branch is a segment of China
Construction Bank Corporation and is not a separately incorporated legal entity. The Branch’s
financial statements have been prepared solely from the books and records of the Branch and reflect
those transactions recorded locally. In addition, the assets of the Branch are legally available for the
satisfaction of liabilities of China Construction Bank Corporation, which are not reflected in the
Branch’s financial statements.

The Branch is engaged in the provision of commercial banking and related financial services.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards set
out by the Macao Special Administrative Region as promulgated under Order of the Secretary for
Economy and Finance No. 44/2020 (“Macao Financial Reporting Standards™ or “MFRSs").

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
derivative financial instruments, debt and equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) all of which have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Macao Patacas (“MOP™), which is also the functional currency of the Branch. All values
are rounded to the nearest MOP except when otherwise indicated.



CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK CORPORATION MACAU BRANCH

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

2.2

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE NEW MACAO FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

Pursuant to Article 7(1) of Law No. 20/2020, Regulations on the Profession and Practice of Accountants,
the Accounting Standards of the Macao Special Administrative Region (hereinafter referred to as the
"New Macao Financial Reporting Standards"), was promulgated by the Professional Committee of
Accountants on 19 December 2024 under Notice No. 2/2024/CPC. The New Macao Financial Reporting
Standards shall be mandatorily applied to the preparation of financial statements for the financial years
beginning on or after 1 January 2028. Early adoption of the New Macao Financial Reporting Standards
is permitted for the financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2026.

The New Macao Financial Reporting Standards consists of the complete set of International Financial
Reporting Standards ("IFRS") included in the 2021 edition of the Bound Volume of International
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The New Macao
Financial Reporting Standards includes new standards, such as IFRS 16 — Leases, IFRS 17 — Insurance
Contracts, and amendments to existing standards.

The Branch has not early adopted the New Macao Financial Reporting Standards, which has been issued
but are not yet effective, in these financial statements. The Branch intends to apply the New Macao
Financial Reporting Standards when they become effective.

The Branch has not commenced an assessment of the impact of the New Macao Financial Reporting
Standards and therefore is not yet in a position to state whether the New Macao Financial Reporting
Standards would have a significant impact on its results of operations and financial position.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Revenue recognition

(a) Interest income
The effective interest rate method

Under both IFRS 9 and IAS 39, interest income is recorded using the EIR method for all financial
assets measured at amortised cost, interest rate derivatives for which hedge accounting is applied and
the related amortisation/recycling effect of hedge accounting. Similar to interest-bearing financial
assets classified as available-for-sale or held to maturity under IAS 39, interest income on interest
bearing financial assets measured at FVOCI under IFRS 9 is also recorded using the EIR method.
Interest expense is also calculated using the EIR method for all financial liabilities held at amortised
cost. The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life
of the financial asset or liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset.

The EIR (and therefore, the amortised cost of the financial asset) is calculated by taking into account
transaction costs and any discount or premium on the acquisition of the financial asset, as well as fees
and costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The Branch recognises interest income using a rate of
return that represents the best estimate of a constant rate of return over the expected life of the loan.
Hence, the EIR calculation also takes into account the effect of potentially different interest rates that
may be charged at various stages of the financial asset’s expected life, and other characteristics of the
product life cycle (including prepayments, penalty interest and charges).

10



CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK CORPORATION MACAU BRANCH

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

2.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(a) Interest income (continued)

If expectations of fixed rate financial assets” or liabilities” cash flows are revised for reasons other than
credit risk, then changes to future contractual cash flows are discounted at the original EIR with a
consequential adjustment to the carrying amount. The difference from the previous carrying amount
is booked as a positive or negative adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability
on the balance sheet with a corresponding increase or decrease in Interest revenue/expense calculated
using the effective interest method.

For floating-rate financial instruments, periodic re-estimation of cash flows to reflect the movements
in the market rates of interest also alters the effective interest rate, but when instruments were initially
recognised at an amount equal to the principal, re-estimating the future interest payments does not
significantly affect the carrying amount of the asset or the liability.

Presentation of net interest income

Paragraph 82(a) of IAS | requires interest revenue calculated using the effective interest rate (EIR)
method to be presented separately in the statement of profit or loss. This implies that interest revenue
calculated using the EIR method is to be differentiated and presented separately from interest revenue
calculated using other methods.

The Branch considers its net interest margin to be a key performance indicator; the measure includes
both interest calculated using the effective interest method and interest recognised on a contractual
basis on its financial assets/liabilities measured at FVPL other than those held for trading.

Interest and similar income/expense

Net interest income comprises interest income and interest expense calculated using both the effective
interest method and other methods. These are disclosed separately in the profit or loss for both interest
income and interest expense to provide symmetrical and comparable information.

In its interest income/expense calculated using the effective interest method, the Branch only includes
interest on those financial instruments that are set out in note 5. Interest income/expense on all trading
financial assets/liabilities is recognised as a part of the fair value change in Net trading income.

The Branch calculates interest income on financial assets, other than those considered credit-impaired,
by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. When a financial asset becomes
credit-impaired (and is therefore regarded as ‘Stage 3°, the Branch calculates interest income by
applying the EIR to the net amortised cost of the financial asset. If the financial asset cures and is no
longer credit-impaired, the Branch reverts to calculating interest income on a gross basis.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets, the Branch calculates interest
income by calculating the credit-adjusted EIR and applying that rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset. The credit-adjusted EIR is the interest rate that, at initial recognition, discounts the
estimated future cash flows (including credit losses) to the amortised cost of the POCI financial asset.



CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK CORPORATION MACAU BRANCH

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

23

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(b) Fee and commission income

The Branch earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of financial services it provides to
its customers. Fee and commission income is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Branch expects to be entitled in exchange for providing the services.

The performance obligations, as well as the timing of their satisfaction, are identified, and determined,
at the inception of the contract. The Branch’s revenue contracts do not typically include multiple
performance obligations, as explained further in below.

When the Branch provides a service to its customers, consideration is invoiced and generally due
immediately upon satisfaction of a service provided at a point in time or at the end of the contract
period for a service provided over time (unless otherwise specified in below).

The Branch has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements because it
typically controls the services before transferring them to the customer.

Fee and commission income from services where performance obligations are satisfied over time

Performance obligations satisfied over time include asset management, custody and other services,
where the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Branch’s
performance as the Branch performs.

The Branch's fee and commission income from services where performance obligations are satisfied
over time include the following:

Fee and commission income from providing services where performance obligations are satisfied
at a point in time

Services provided where the Branch’s performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time are
recognised once control of the services is transferred to the customer. This is typically on completion
of the underlying transaction or service or, for fees or components of fees that are linked to a certain
performance, afier fulfilling the corresponding performance criteria. These include fees and
commissions arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third
party, such as the arrangement/participation or negotiation of the acquisition of shares or other
securities, or the purchase or sale of businesses, brokerage and underwriting fees.

The Branch typically has a single performance obligation with respect to these services, which is to
successfully complete the transaction specified in the contract.



CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK CORPORATION MACAU BRANCH

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

23

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(b) Fee and commission income (continued)

Contract balances

The following are recognised in the statement of financial position arising from revenue from contracts

with customers:

*  ‘Fees and commissions receivables’ included under ‘Other assets’, which represent the Branch’s
right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional (i.e., only the passage of time is required
before payment of the consideration is due). These are measured at amortised cost and subject to
the impairment provisions of IFRS 9.

*  ‘Unearned fees and commissions’ included under ‘Other liabilities’, which represent the Branch’s
obligation to transfer services to a customer for which the Branch has received consideration (or
an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. A liability for unearned fees and
commissions is recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier).
Unearned fees and commissions are recognised as revenue when (or as) the Branch performs.

(c) Net trading income

Net trading income includes all gains and losses from changes in fair value and the related interest
income or expense and dividends, for financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading. This
includes any ineffectiveness recorded on hedging transactions.

(d) Net gain/loss on derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI

Net gain/loss on derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCT includes loss
(or income) recognised on sale or derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised costs or
FVOCI calculated as the difference between the book value (including impairment) and the proceeds
received.

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Branch and when
the revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) Interest income is recognised in the profit or loss as it is accrued on a timely basis, except in
the case of non-accrual advances and other accounts where interest is recorded in an off-
balance sheet account, and is not recognised in the profit or loss.

Non-accrual advances and other accounts represent the credit exposures which are overdue
for more than three months. Interest income from non-accrual advances and other accounts
is directly credited to the profit or loss when the interest is subsequently recovered.

(b) Fees and commission income are recognised when services are provided.

(c) Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment has been established.

13



CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK CORPORATION MACAU BRANCH

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

2.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics and the Branch’s business model for managing them. With the exception of
trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Branch has
applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Branch initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Branch has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition™ below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest (““SPPI™) on the principal amount outstanding.

The Branch’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Branch commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.



CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK CORPORATION MACAU BRANCH

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

2.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Branch measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:
+ The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows.
+  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (debt instruments)

The Branch measures debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income if both of
the following conditions are met:
+ The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling.
+ The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income, interest income, foreign
exchange revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the profit or loss and
computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair
value changes are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair
value change recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to the statement of profit or loss.

15



CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK CORPORATION MACAU BRANCH

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

23

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Branch can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income when they meet the
definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the statement of profit or loss.
Dividends are recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment
has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Branch and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably, except when the Branch
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such
gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial
assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if
they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of
principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of
the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at amortised
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, as described above, debt instruments may
be designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or
significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at
fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments which the Branch had not
irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value profit or loss are also recognised as other income
in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Branch and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Reclassification of financial assets

If the Branch makes changes to its financial assets management business model, which is only
expected to occur relatively infrequently and on an exceptional basis, all of the financial assets affected
are reclassified in conformity with the requirements of IFRS 9 — “Financial instruments”. The
reclassification is applied prospectively from the date upon which it becomes effective. Under IFRS 9
— “Financial instruments”, reclassifications of equity instruments for which the valuation option
through other comprehensive income or for other financial assets and liabilities at fair value in the
sphere of the fair value option have been included, are not permitted,

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Branch’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:
« the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
+ the Branch has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through™ arrangement; and either (a) the Branch has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Branch has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Branch has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Branch continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Branch’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Branch also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Branch has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Branch could be required to repay.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Investments in securities

Investments in listed and unlisted equity securities are stated at cost less any identified impairment
losses.

Investments in debt securities with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified
as held-to-maturity when the management has the positive intention and ability to hold them to
maturity. Held-to-maturity debt securities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in interest income in
the statement of profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in other expenses.

Investment in debt securities are classified as available-for-sale when they are intended to be held for
an indefinite period of time and may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes
in market conditions. After initial recognition, available-for-sale debt securities are subsequently
measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or losses recognised in reserve until the debt securities
are derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss in other income, or until the debt securities are determined to be impaired, when the cumulative
gain or loss is reclassified from reserve to the statement of profit or loss in other gains or losses.

Advances and other accounts

Advances and other accounts are stated in the statement of financial position after deducting specific
and general provisions for impairment losses. Provisions are made against specific advances when
management has doubts on the ultimate recoverability of principal or interest. Specific provision is
made to reduce the carrying amount of advances and other accounts, net of any collateral, to the
expected net realisable value based on management’s assessment of the potential losses on those
identified advances. A general impairment provision of 1% for all advances and other accounts and
contingent liabilities is made. The provisions are made with reference to the rules and regulations of
AMCM. and are based on estimates made by the management of the Branch, which are reviewed
periodically.

Advances and other accounts together with the associated provisions are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery and all collaterals have been realised or have been transferred to
the Branch.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Branch recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Branch expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Branch assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Branch compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income, the Branch applies the low
credit risk simplification. At each reporting date, the Branch evaluates whether the debt investments
are considered to have low credit risk using all reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Branch reassesses the external credit
ratings of the debt investments. In addition, the Branch considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Branch considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Branch may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal
or external information indicates that the Branch is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Branch. A financial
assel is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial assets at amortised
cost are subject to impairment under the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage | — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs
Stage 2 ~ Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant financing component or when
the Branch applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Branch applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Branch does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Branch has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a significant financing component and lease

receivables, the Branch chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs with policies as described above.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Investments in securities

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows (excluding future credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the
estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e.,
the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Branch assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired. If an
available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously
recognised in the statement of profit or loss, is removed from reserve and recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

For unlisted equity securities that are carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because
of an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the
recovery is credited to other expenses in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, deposits, debt securities in issue, other liabilities, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value, and in the case of financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, plus or minus
transaction costs.

The Branch’s financial liabilities include deposits and balances with banks and other financial
institutions, derivative financial instruments, deposits from customers, debt securities in issue, tax
payable and other liabilities.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing
in the near term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the
Branch that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9.
Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss
does not include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss are
designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or
losses on liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss, except for the gains or losses arising from the Branch’s own credit risk which are
presented in other comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification to the statement of profit
or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not include
any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Branch are those contracts that require a payment to be
made to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Branch measures
the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in accordance
with the policy as set out in “Impairment of financial”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

b2
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled,
or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Derivative financial instruments

The Branch uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward currency contracts and interest rate
swaps, to hedge its foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively. Such derivative financial
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair
value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are taken directly to the profit or
loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in other comprehensive
income and later reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item affects profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets
when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Foreign exchange transactions are undertaken by the Branch in the foreign exchange market as part of
the Branch’s trading activities. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives
are taken directly to the statement of profit or loss as other operating income.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Branch recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated

Buildings 2% 10 3%

Leasehold improvements over the shorter of the lease terms and 167:%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5% to 50%

No depreciation is provided on freehold land. An item of property and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised
in the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the
arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent
on the use of a specific asset and whether the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

Operating lease payments, net of any incentives received from the lessor, are recognised as an
expense in the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Macao patacas, which is the Branch’s functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the Branch is initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item.

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Branch initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments
or receipts in advance, the Branch determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authority, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Branch operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes. Tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period are used to determine the deferred tax.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences while deferred tax assets
are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and any carryforward of unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences and the carryforward of unused tax losses can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end
of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the Branch has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assels on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits
Social society scheme

The employees of the Branch are required to participate in a central social security scheme operated
by the Macao SAR. The Branch is required to contribute a fixed amount of its payroll costs to the
central social security scheme. The contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central social security scheme.

Defined contribution plan

The Branch operates a defined contribution retirement benefits plan, which employees can choose to
join on a voluntary basis. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees' basic salaries
and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable. The assets of the plan are
held separately from those of the Branch in an independently administered fund. The Branch's
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the defined contribution
retirement benefit plan, except when there are employees who leave the plan prior to vesting fully in
the contributions, the contributions payable by the Branch are reduced by the amount of forfeited
contributions.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

A provision is recognised when the Branch has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions
are measured at management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the
end of each reporting period, and are discounted to present value where the effect of the time value is
material. Where the probability of outflow is considered to be remote, or probable, but a reliable
estimate cannot be made, a contingent liability is disclosed.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value
at the end of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, current
accounts with banks, deposits with AMCM and placements with banks with original maturity of less
than three months, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally less than three months when acquired, less minimum deposit balance with AMCM.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Branch measures its derivative financial instruments, equity investments and certain financial
instruments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date.

The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Branch. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Branch uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1: Fair value based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2: Fair value based on inputs other than quoted prices included within level | that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices)

Level 3: Fair value based on inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market
data (that is, unobservable inputs).

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Branch
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Branch assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.
If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Branch
estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or
cash-generating unit (CGU)’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The recoverable amount
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or
CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its
recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are
taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.
These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded
companies or other available fair value indicators.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists,
the Branch estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the
carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceeds the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the statement of profit or loss unless the asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related Party Transaction

A party is considered to be related to the Branch if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person

(1)
(i1)
(iii)

or

has control or joint control over the Branch;

has significant influence over the Branch; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the Branch or of a parent of the
Branch;

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i)
(ii)

(i)
(iv)

(v)
(vi)
(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Branch are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary
or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Branch are joint ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the
Branch or an entity related to the Branch; (If the Branch is itself such a plan) and the
sponsoring employers of the post-employment benefit plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Branch or to the parent of the Branch.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the Branch’s financial statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities,
and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in future periods. In the process of applying
the Branch’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements and assumptions
concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments may change due to circumstances
beyond the Branch’s control and are reflected in the assumptions if and when they occur. Items with
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements with substantial
management judgement and/or estimates are collated below with respect to judgements/estimates
involved.

Classification of financial assets

The Branch’s significant judgments in determining the classification of financial assets include the
analysis of business models and contractual cash flow characteristics.

The Branch determines the business model for the management of financial assets at the level of
portfolios and considers the factors such as how the asset’s performance is evaluated and reported to
key management personnel, the risks affecting the performance of financial assets and the way in which
financial assets are managed, and how managers are compensated.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flow of financial assets is consistent with the basic lending
arrangement, the Branch uses the following key judgements: whether the principals may change
because of the changes of time distribution or amount during the life period due to the reasons such as
prepayment; whether the interest includes only the time value of money, credit risk, other basic
borrowing risks and the consideration of costs and profits. For example, whether the amount prepaid
reflects only the principal that has not yet been paid and the interest based on the outstanding principal,
as well as reasonable compensation paid for the early termination of the contract.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)
Expected credit losses

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for the investment in financial assets measured
at amortised cost and debt instruments measured at FVOCTI is an area that requires the use of complex
models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behaviour (e.g. the
likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses). Explanation of the inputs, assumptions
and estimation techniques used in measuring expected credit losses is further detailed in note 30 to the
financial statement.

A number of significant judgements are required in applying the accounting requirements for
measuring expected credit losses, such as:

- Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk;

- The segmentation of financial assets when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis;

- Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of expected credit losses;

- Determining the forward-looking information and weightings for different types of
products/markets when measuring expected credit losses; and

- Establishing groups of financial instruments with similar risk characteristics for the purpose
of measuring expected credit losses.

Detailed information about the judgements and estimates made by the Branch in the above areas is set
out in note 30 credit risk to the financial statement.

Impairment provisions on advances and other accounts

The Branch periodically reviews its loan portfolios to assess the existing specific and general
provision level. In determining whether a provision for loans and advances and trade bills should be
recorded, the Branch makes reference to the requirements of AMCM and the classification of loans
and advances. Where the recoverability of a loan is considered doubtful by the management but
unable to obtain a full picture on the borrower’s financial situation, the management will exercise
their judgement and make reference to the market condition to estimate the amount of provision
required against the loan at the end of the reporting period. Should the final recoverable amount
differs from the amount estimated to be recoverable and reflected in the financial statements, the
difference together with the consequential tax expense impact will be reflected in the financial
statements in the year in which it arises.

Impairment of investments in securities

The Branch assesses impairment loss for its investments in securities. Assessment includes the risk
indicators and performance of the bonds, such as external credit rating, market value etc. The Branch
evaluates the possibility of impairment by taking into consideration the market performance,
repayment behavior of the bond issuers and related assets performance.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)
Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the
measurement date under current market conditions (i.e., an exit price) regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. When the fair values of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be derived from
active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include the use of
valuation models. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but
where this is not feasible, estimation is required in establishing fair values. Judgements and estimates
include considerations of liquidity and model inputs related to items such as credit risk (both own and
counterparty), funding value adjustments, correlation and volatility. For further details about
determination of fair value are disclosed in note 29 to the financial statements.

Fair value of unlisted equity investments

The unlisted equity investments have been valued based on a market-based valuation technique as
detailed in note 29 to the financial statements. The valuation requires the Branch to determine the
comparable public companies (peers) and select the price multiple. In addition, the Branch makes
estimates about the discount for illiquidity and size differences. The Branch classifies the fair value of
these investments as Level 3. For further details about determination of fair value are disclosed in note
29 to the financial statements.

Income taxes

Significant estimates are required in determining the Branch’s provision for income taxes. There are
certain transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Branch recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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4 INTEREST INCOME

Interest income calculated using the effective interest
method

Deposits with AMCM

Placements and deposits with banks

Advances and other accounts

Financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

2024
MOP

14,297,809
1,387,529,719
1,822,497,995

2023
MOP

13,303,934
2,227,983,638
1,868,369,277

5. INTEREST EXPENSE

Deposits and balances with banks and other financial
institutions

704,857,290 533,603,570
115,971,809 143,384,601
4,045,154,622 4,786,645,020
2024 2023

MOP MOP

2,039,844,256

2,612,189,907

Deposits from customers 524,355,762 609,500,596
Debt securities issued 1,042.,405,133 1,317,345,366
3,606,605,151 4,539,035,869
6. FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME AND EXPENSES
2024 2023
MOP MOP
Fee and commission income

- Agency services 22,981,356 22,602,650
- Commissions from loans and advances 276,920,927 403,518,514
- Others 3,013,100 3,017,872
302,915,383 429,139,036

Fee and commission expenses
- Debt issuance fees 313,485 2,337,900
- Referral fee 2161924.812 316,691,018
- Others 4,137,689 271,686
221,375,986 319,300,604
Net fee and commission income 81,539,397 109,838,432
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T NET TRADING (LOSS)/INCOME

2024 2023

MOP MOP

Foreign exchange (Note a) (191,810,233) 24,638,767
Interest rate derivative (309,626) 1,532,019
(192,119,859) 26,170,786

Note:

(a) Foreign exchange income or loss includes net gains or losses in connection with the translation of
foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities, and net realised and unrealised
gains and losses on foreign exchange derivatives including foreign exchange spot, foreign
exchange forward and foreign exchange swap contracts. Included in the foreign exchange loss is
net translation loss of MOP55,522,424 (2023: Included in the foreign exchange gain is net
translation gain of MOPS5,732,581) which have been recognised in the statement of profit or loss
as a result of translating monetary items denominated in foreign currencies at the functional
currency interbank middle rate of exchange as published by AMCM at the end of the reporting
period.

8. NET GAIN IN FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2024 2023
MOP MOP
Gain on disposal of investment in securities at FVOCI, net 44,874,088 14,424,618
Gain on sales of trade bills 3,888,285 2,373,618
48,762,373 16,798,236

0. OTHER OPERATING INCOME
2024 2023
MOP MOP
Dividend income from investments in unlisted equity securities 19,313 4,506
Other income 21,821 3,989
41,134 8,495
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10. OPERATING EXPENSES

Depreciation
Minimum lease payments under operating leases
Employee benefit expense:
Wages and salaries
Pension scheme contributions
Social security contributions
Other operating expenses

11. NET REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT ALLOWANCES

Net (reversal)/charge of impairment allowances on:
Advances and other accounts
Placements and deposit with banks
Investments in securities
—~ AtFVOCI
~ At amortised cost

Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts

Net reversal of impairment allowances

36

Note

2024 2023
MOP MOP
6,576,313 5,481,654
27,040,684 25,234,905
107,742,618 104,821,124
7,086,316 6,742,508
120,420 122,400
48,156,613 45,649,783
196,722,964 188,052,374
2024 2023
MOP MOP
(14,943,614) (43,586,669)
(8,076,953) 8,424,612
3,019.912 2,768,231
(3,553,260) 2,004,222
(23,553,915) (30,389,604)
(25,492,335) 24,093,506
(49,046,250) (6,296,098)
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12. INCOME TAX

Macao complementary tax has been provided at progress rates up to 12% (2023: 12%) on the estimated

taxable profits arising in Macao during the year.

Note

Current tax:
Charge for the year
Over provision in prior years
Deferred tax
Charge/ (Credit) for the year 21

Total tax charge for the year

2024 2023

MOP MOP

29,234,653 34,519,176
1,653,041 (11,115,152)

30,887,694 23,404,024

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory rates for Macao to
the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the statutory tax rates to the effective

tax rates, are as follows:

2024

MOP

Profit before tax 229,095,802

Tax at the statutory tax rate 27,491,496

Expenses not deductible for tax 579,662
Income not subject to tax (3,404,559)

Tax effect of reversal/ (recognition) of

deferred tax assets 6,293,095
Others (72,000)

30,887,694
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2023

% MOP
218,668,824
12.0 26,240,259

(0.4) 1,608,624
(0.9) (2,789,286)

2.9 (1,583,573)

(0.0) (72,000)
13.6 23,404,024

%

12.0

0.7
(1.3)

0.7)
(0.0)
10.7
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13. CASH AND BALANCE WITH BANKS

2024 2023
MOP MOP
Cash on hand 176,181,864 198,956,639
Current accounts with banks 1,451,993,049 1,940,486,966

Placements with banks maturing within one month 2,608,346,616 9,074,193,099
Gross balance 4,236,521,529 11,213,636,704
Impairment allowances
~ Stage 1 (664,996) (5,369,282)
~ Stage 2 - :
~ Stage 3

13.1 Impairment allowance for cash and balance with banks

31 December 2024

4,235,856,533

11,208,267,422

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
MOP MOP MOP MOP
Cash and balances with banks
Pass 4,236,521,529 - - 4,236,521,529
Special mention - - - _
Substandard - - .
Doubtful - -
Loss - - . .
Less: Expected credit loss (664,996) - (664,996)
4,235,856,533 B - 4,235,856,533
31 December 2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
MopP MOP MOP MOP
Cash and balances with banks
Pass 11,213,636,704 11,213,636,704

Special mention
Substandard

Doubtful

Loss

Less: Expected credit loss

(5,369,282)

(R T T T T |

(5,369,282)

11,208,267,422

11,208,267,422
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14,

DEPOSITS WITH MONETARY AUTHORITY OF MACAO

2024

MOP

Deposits with AMCM 453,226,978
Impairment allowances

~ Stage 1 -

— Stage 2 B

— Stage 3

2023
MOP

485,158,290

453,226,978

485,158,290

Balance includes minimum reserves with AMCM of MOP368,615,000 (2023: MOP482,545,000)

which are not available for use in the Branch’s day-to-day operations.

14.1 Impairment allowance for deposits with monetary authorities

31 December 2024

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Mop MOP MOP MOP
Deposits with monetary authority
of Macao
Pass 453,226,978 453,226,978
Special mention - -
Substandard
Doubtful
Loss
Less: Expected credit loss - .
453,226,978 453,226,978
31 December 2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
MOpP Mop MOP MoOop
Deposits with monetary authority
of Macao
Pass 485,158,290 485,158,290
Special mention - )
Substandard
Doubtful
Loss
Less: Expected credit loss - -
485,158,290 485,158,290
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15. PLACEMENTS WITH BANKS

2024 2023
MOP MOP
Placements with banks with original maturity
between one and twelve months 2,539,441,237 20,150,796,150
Placements with banks with original maturity
beyond twelve months 26,658,829.600 22,549,514,113
29,198,270,837 42,700,310,263
Impairment allowances
— Stage 1 (638,381) (4,011,049)
~ Stage 2 - a
~ Stage 3 - -
29,197,632,456 42,696,299,214
15.1 Impairment allowance for placements with banks
31 December 2024
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
MOP MOP MOP MOP
Placements with banks
Pass 29,198,270,837 29,198,270,837
Special mention - )
Substandard
Doubtful
Loss B R
Less: Expected credit loss (H38,381) (638,381)
29,197,632,456 20,197,632 ,456
31 December 2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
MopP MOP MoP Mop
Placements with banks
Pass 42,700,310,263 42.700,310,263
Special mention - -
Substandard
Doubtful
Loss - -
Less: Expected credit loss (4,011,049) (4,011,049)

42,696.299.214

42,696,299,214
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16.

ADVANCES AND OTHER ACCOUNTS

Advances to customers
Advances to banks
Trade bills

Gross balances

Less: Allowance for impairment losses

— Stage |
— Stage 2
— Stage 3

2024 2023

MOP MOP

27,145,794,015 23,795,753,629

14,960,130,822 9,702,131,700

42,105,924,837 33,497,885,329
(142,437,104) (112,377,919)
(105,675,174) (165,022,656)
(299,113,295) (335,644,348)

41,558,699,264

32,884,840,406

Gross non-accrual advances and other accounts
as a percentage of total gross advances and

other accounts

0.73%

1.00%

16.1 Impairment allowance for advances and other accounts

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Branch’s
internal credit rating system and year-end stage classification. The amounts presented are gross of

impairment allowances and impairment allowances:

31 December 2024

Advances and other accounts
Pass

Special mention

Substandard

Doubtful

Loss

Less: Expected credit loss

31 December 2023

Advances and other accounts
Pass

Special mention

Substandard

Doubtful

Loss

Less: Expected credit loss

Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

MOP MOP MOP MOP
38,329,637.552 2,712,758,559 41,042,396,111
- 744,952,120 - 744,952,120

. 25,474,290 25,474,290

5,939,780 5,939,780

- - 287,162,536 287,162,536
(142,437.104) (105,675,174) (299,113,295) (547,225,573)
38,187.200,448 3,352,035,505 19,463,311 41,558,699,264
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

MOP MOP MOP MOP
29,961,610,913 2,577,940,593 32,539,551,506
- 613,687,930 - 613,687,930

- 3,765,437 3,765,437

1,711,827 1,711,827

- - 339,168,629 339,168,629
(112,377,919) (165,022,656) (335.644,348) (613,044,923)
29,849,232,994 3,026,605,867 9,001,545 32,884,840,406
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16. ADVANCES AND OTHER ACCOUNTS (continued)

16.1 Impairment allowance for advances and other accounts (continued)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
MOP Mop MOP MOP
Gross earrying amount as at |

January 2024 29961,610,913 3,191,628,523 344,645,893 33,497,885,329

New assets originated or purchased 23,102,801,734 1,447.193.907 - 24,549 995,641
Payments and assets derecognised (14,710,427,077) (1,184,307,550) (47,221,5006) (15,941,956,134)
Transfer o Stage | 278,930,527 (278,930,527) - -
Transfer to Stage 2 (293,047,222) 293,047,222 - -
Transfer o Stage 3 (10,231,323) (10,920,896) 21,152,219 -
At 31 December 2024 38,329,637,552 3,457.710,679 318,576,606 42,105,924,837
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

MOP MOP MOP MOP

Gross carrying amount as at 1

January 2023 48,852.713,083 5,803,138,303 190,133,254 54,935,984,640
New assets originated or purchased 17,623,132,713 1,066,889,74 1 27.019 18,690,049,473
Payments and assets derecognised (36,781,246,809) (3,342,256,088) (4,645,887) (40,128,148,784)
Transfer to Stage | 308,171,925 (308,171,925) - -
Transfer to Stage 2 (39,448,172) 39,448,172 - -
Transfer to Stage 3 (1,711,827) (157,419,680) 159,131,507 -
At 31 December 2023 29,961,610,913 3,191,628,523 344,645,893 33,497,885,329
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16. ADVANCES AND OTHER ACCOUNTS (continued)

16.1 Impairment allowance for advances and other accounts (continued)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
MOP MOP MOP MOP
ECL allowance as at 1 January 2024 112,377,919 165,022,656 335,644,348 613,044,923
New exposure 8,482,304 42,034,656 - 50,516,960
Exposure matured/ lapsed (16,102,767) (40,512,487) (48,725,143) (105,340,397)
Transfer to Stage 1 2,042,644 (2,042,644 ) - -
Transfer to Stage 2 (4,727,998) 4,727,998 - -
Transfer 1o Stage 3 (2,764,373) (5,555,567) 8,319,940 -
Remeasurement (Note a) 43,129,375 (57,999,438) 3,874,150 (10,995913)
Al 31 December 2024 142,437,104 105,675,174 299,113,295 547,225,573
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
MOP MOPpP MOP MOP
ECL allowance as at 1 January 2023 117,102,734 386,659,562 152,869,295 656,631,591
New exposure 10,727,765 42,319,033 - 53,046,798
Exposure matured/ lapsed (50,349,833 ) (171,661,286) (502,779 ) (222,513,898)
Transfer to Stage | 5,471,349 (5,471,349) B -
Transfer to Stage 2 (4,155,586 ) 4,155,586 -
Transfer to Stage 3 (469,369 ) (155,060,314) 155,529,683 -
Remeasurement (Note a) 34,050,859 64,081,424 27,748,149 125,880,432
Al 31 December 2023 112,377.919 165,022,656 335,644,348 613,044,923

Note:

(a) Remeasurements comprise the impact of changes in Probability of Default ("PD"), Loss Given Default ("LGD") or
Exposure at Default (“EAD"); changes in model assumptions and methodologies; loss provisions change due to stage-

transfer; unwinding of discount; and the impact of exchange rate changes, ete.
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES
Note

Investments in debt securities at fair value
through other comprehensive income

- Governments

- Banks and other financial institutions

Investments in debt securities at amortised cost
- Governments

- Banks and other financial institutions

- Corporate entities

Less: Allowance for impairment losses

- Stage 1 17.1.
~ Stage 2

~ Stage 3

(9]

Investments in equity securities at fair value
through other comprehensive income
- Unlisted equity securities

Total

44

2024
MOP

1,110,102,666
27,239.418,069

2023
MOP

1,035,803,562
17,281,315,483

28,349,520,735

18,317,119,045

- 227,533,075

3,628,439,987 4,614,391,030

- 201,465,999

3,628,439,987 5,043,390,104
(2,044,826) (5,598,086)
(2,044,826) (5,598,086 )

1,403,016 1,403,016

31,977,318,912 23,356,314,079
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17.

INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES (continued)

Investments in unlisted equity securities are issued by private entity which is incorporated in Hong
Kong. They have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate.

Investments in debt securities are bonds issued by governments, investment grade-rated banks and
incorporation incorporated mainly in China, Macau SAR, Hong Kong, or the United Kingdom. As at
31 December 2024, the fair values of investment in debt securities at amortised cost were
MOP3,626,395,161 (2023: MOP5,037,792,018). The fair value measurement is disclosed in note 2.3

to financial statements.

17.1 Impairment allowance for investment in securities

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Branch’s internal credit rating system and year-end stage classification. The amounts presented are
gross of impairment allowances:

17.1.1 Debt securities at FVOCI

31 December 2024

Investment in securities
Pass

Special mention
Substandard

Doubtful

Loss

Less: Expected credit loss

31 December 2023

Investment in securities
Pass

Special mention
Substandard

Doubtful

Loss

Less: Expected credit loss

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

MOP Mop MOP MOP
28,349,520,735 28,349,520,735
(14,530,771) (14.530,771)
28,334,989,964 28,334,989,964
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

MOP MOP MOP MopP
18,317,119,045 - 18.317.119,045
(11,510,859 ) (11,510,859 )
18,305,608,186 - - 18,305,608,186
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17.

INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES (continued)

17.1 Impairment allowance for investment in securities (continued)

17.1.1 Debt securities at FVOCI (continued)

Gross carrying amount asat 1
January 2024

New assets originated or purchased
Payments and assets derecognised
(excluding write offs)

Foreign exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2024

Gross carrying amount as at 1
January 2023

New assets originated or purchased
Payments and assets derecognised
(excluding write offs)

Foreign exchange adjustments

AL 31 December 2023

ECL allowance

as at 1 January 2024
New exposure
Exposure matured’ lapsed
Remeasurement (Note a)
At 31 December 2024

ECL allowance

as at 1 January 2023
New exposure
Exposure matured! lapsed
Remeasurement (Note a)
At 31 December 2023

Note:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

MOP MOP MOP MOP
18,317,119,045 - - 18,317,119,045
26,612,120,509 - - 26,612,120,509
(16,569,892, 810) - - (16,569,892 810)
(9,826,009) ) 3 (9,826,009)
28,349,520,735 - - 28.349,520,735
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

MOP MOP MOP MOP
10,894,698,737 - - 10,894 698,737
15,836,805,190 - 15,836,805,190
(8,464 365.867) - - (8,464 365 ,867)
49,980,985 - - 49,980,985
18,317,119,045 - - 18,317.119,045
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

MOP MoPpP MopP MOP
(11,510,859) - - (11,510,859)
(13,825,110) - - (13.825,110)
10,198,244 - - 10,198 244
606,954 3 > 606,954
(14.530,771) - - (14,530,771)
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

MOP MoP MOP MOPpP
(8,742,628) - - (8,742,628)
(9,470,658) - - (9,470,658)
6,737,574 6,737,574
(35,147) - (35.147)
(11,510,859) - - (11,510,859)

(a) Remeasurements comprise the impact of changes in PD, LGD or EAD; changes in model assumptions and

methodologies; loss provisions change due to stage-transfer; and the impact of exchange rate changes, ete.
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES (continued)

17.1 Impairment allowance for investment in securities (continued)

17.1.2 Debt securities at amortised cost

31 December 2024

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
MOP MOP MOP MOP
Debt securities at amortised cost
Pass 3,628,439,987 - - 3,628,439,987
Special mention - - - -
Substandard - - - -
Doubtful . - - -
Loss - - - -
Less: Expected credit loss (2.044,826) - - (2,044,826)
3,626,395,161 - - 3,626,395,161
31 December 2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
MOP MOP MOP MOP
Debt securities at amortised cost
Pass 5,043,390,104 - - 5,043.390,104
Special mention - - - -
Substandard - - . -
Doubtful - - - -
Loss - . . -
Less: Expected credit loss (5,598,086 ) - - (5,598,086 )
5.037,792,018 - - 5,037,792,018
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
MOP MOP MOP MOpP
Gross carrying amount as at 1
January 2024 5,043,390,104 - - 5,043 390,104
New assets originated or purchased - - - -
Payments and assets derecognised
(excluding write offs) (1,325,820,282) - - (1,325,820,282)
Foreign exchange adjustments (89,129.835) - - (89,129,835 )
Al 31 December 2024 3,628,439.987 - - 3,628,439 987
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
MoP Mor MOP MoPp
Gross carrying amount as at |
January 2023 8,481,149 895 - - 8.481,149,895

New assets originated or purchased
Payments and assets derecognised
(excluding write offs)

Foreign exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2023

(3,399,554,212)
(38,205,579 )

(3,399,554,212)
(38,205,579

5,043,390,104

5.043,390,104
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17.

INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES (continued)

17.1 Impairment allowance for investment in securities (continued)

17.1.2 Debt securities at amortised cost (continued)

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2024
New exposure

Exposure matured lapsed
Remeasurement (Note a)

At 31 December 2024

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2023
New exposure

Exposure matured’ lapsed
Remeasurement (Note a)

At 31 December 2023

Note:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Mop Mop MOP Mop
(5,598,086) - - (5,598,086)
1,341,709 - - 1,341,709
2,211,551 - - 2,211,551
(2.044.826) - - (2,044,826)
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
MoPpP MoOP MOP MOP
(3.593.864) (3.593,864)
1,573,484 B - 1,573,484
(3,577,706) - - (3.577,706)
(5,598,086 ) - - (5,598.086)

(a) Remeasurements comprise the impact of changes in PD, LGD or EAD; changes in model assumptions and methodologies;

loss provisions change due to stage-transfer; and the impact of exchange rate changes, etc.
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18. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

31 December 2024

At 31 December 2023 and | January 2024:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net carrying amount

At | January 2024, net of accumulated depreciation and
impairment:
Additions
Disposal - cost write off
Depreciation provided during the year
Disposal - accumulated depreciation write off
At 31 December 2024, net of accumulated depreciation
and impairment

At 31 December 2024:

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net carrying amount

31 December 2023

At 31 December 2022 and | January 2023:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Nel carrying amount

At 1 January 2023, net of accumulated depreciation and
impairment:
Additions
Disposal — cost write off
Depreciation provided during the year
Disposal - accumulated depreciation write off
At 31 December 2023, net of accumulated depreciation
and impairment

Al 31 December 2023:

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net carrying amount

Office equipment,

Frechold land Leasehold furniture and
and buildings improvements fixtures Total
MOP MOP MOP MOP
12,297.216 56,634,419 54,298,283 123,229,918
(5,108.,400) (47,660,233) (46,519,346) (99,287,979)
7. 188,816 8.974.186 7,778,937 23,941,939
7,188,816 8,974,186 7,778,937 23,941,939
- 5,146,560 1,978,762 7,125,322
- - (25,235) (25,235)
(46,597) (4,154,761) (2,374,955) (6,576,313)
- - 25,235 25,235
7.142.21 9,965,985 7,382,744 24,490,948
12,297,217 61,780,978 56,251,811 130,330,006
(5.154,998) (51,814,993) (48,869,067) (105,839,058)
7.142.218 9,965,985 7,382,744 24,490,948
12,297.216 48,556,622 53,967,905 114,821,743
(5,061,803) (44.613.813) (47,272,428) (96,948,044)
T£35.4l3 3,942 809 6,695.477 17,873,699
7235413 3,942,809 6,695,477 17,873,699
- 8,077,797 3,472,097 11,549,894
s B (3,141,719) (3,141,719)
(46,597) (3,046,420) (2,388,637) (5,481,654)
- - 3,141,719 3,141,719
7.188.816 8,974,186 7,778,937 23,941,939
12,297,216 56,634,419 54,298,283 123,229.918
(5,108,400) (47,660,233) (46,519,346) (99,287,979)
7,188,816 8,974,186 7,778,937 23,941,939
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19. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The table below shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments recorded as assets or liabilities
together with their notional amounts. The notional amount, recorded gross, is the quantity of the
derivative contracts’ underlying instrument. The notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions
outstanding at the year end and are not indicative of either the market risk or credit risk.

2024 2023
MOP MOP

Notional amounts of currency and interest rate contracts:
Currency forward contracts 80,832,416,076 33,673,442,522
Interest rate swaps 51,183,497 160,198,980
80,883,599,573 33,833,641,502

Carrying values of currency and interest rate contracts:
Assels Liabilities
2024 2023 2024 2023
MOP MOP MOP MOP
Currency forward contracts  1,212,776,520 281,917,114  1,160,547,717 271,462,041
Interest rate swaps 2,207,050 2,594,051 2,614,960 -
1,214,983,570 284,511,165 1,163,162,677 271,462,041
20. OTHER ASSETS

2024 2023
MOP MOP
Clearing and settlement accounts 503,207,469 200,143,936
Fee and commission receivables 5,818,685 26,625,330
Prepaid expenses 8,554,511 10,939,221
Others 103,468,022 83,745,041
621,048,687 321,453,528
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21. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as follows:

Revaluation Accelerated tax Impairment
Notes reserve depreciation allowance Total
MOP MOP MOP MOP
At | January 2023 9,772,540 (129,434) 1,595,065 11,238,171
Deferred tax credited to profit
or loss during the year 12 - (3,935) 11,119,087 11,115,152
Deferred tax
charged/(credited) to equity
during the year (7,389,052) - - (7,389,052)
At 31 December 2023 2,383 488 (133,369) 12,714,152 14,964,271
At | January 2024 2,383,488 (133,369) 12,714,152 14,964,271
Deferred tax credited to profit
or loss during the year 12 - (44,176) (1,608,865) (1,653,041)
Deferred tax
charged/(credited) to equity
during the year 1,002,771 - - 1,002,771
At 31 December 2024 3,386,259 (177,545) 11,105,287 14,314,001

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset on an individual entity basis when there is a legal right to
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxation relates to the same
authority. The following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the statement
of financial position:

2024 2023

MOP MOP
Deferred tax assets 14,491,546 15,097,640
Deferred tax liabilities (177,545) (133,369)
Net deferred tax assets 14,314,001 14,964,271
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22. DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS

Demand deposits and current accounts
Savings deposits
Time deposits

23. OTHER LIABILITIES

Settlement and clearing accounts

Accrued expenses

Unearned fee and commissions

Impairment allowances on loan commitments and
financial guarantee contracts

Other liabilities

24, DEBT SECURITIES IN ISSUE

Certificates of deposits, at amortised cost
Bonds, at amortised cost

2024
MOP

1,031,494,419
1,786,953,586

2023
MOP

394,859,285
1,623,453,987

14,229.,455,220 12,174,001,367
17,047,903,225 14,192,314,639
2024 2023

MOP MOP
384,225,727 290,014,387
81,604,171 109,787,225
5,085,883 6,016,901
10,175,817 35,668,152
28,410,202 20,617,432
509,501,800 462,104,097
2024 2023

MOP MOP
18,554,236,756 32,011,423,805

4,015,400,000

18,554,236,756

36,026,823,805

As at 31 December 2024, the fair values of certificates of deposits issued and bonds issued at amortised

cost were MOP18,275,929,209 (2023: MOP31,630,687,102)

and MOP Nil (2023:

MOP4,014,835,995) respectively. The fair value measurement is disclosed in note 2.3 to financial

statements,
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25.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURES

Contingent liabilities and commitments

The following is a summary of contractual amounts of each significant class of contingent liabilities

and commitments:

2024
MOP

675,154,583
1,753,431,658
14,480,199,872
6,732,136,414

Guarantees

Letters of credit for customers
Other commitments and guarantees
Other undrawn commitments to lend

2023
MOP

715,584,202

2,416,978,796
26,024,058,388
3,731,833,443

23,640,922,527

32,888,454,829

25.1 Impairment allowance for contingent liabilities and commitments

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the

Branch’s internal credit rating system and year-end stage classification.

31 December 2024

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
MOP MOP MOP MOP
Contingent liabilities and
commitments
Pass 8,021,711,868 1,138,927,331 - 9,160,639,199
Special mention - 83,456 - 83,456
Substandard - - - .
Doubtful - - -
Loss - - - -
Less: Expected credit loss (4,747,992) (5,427,825) - (10,175,817)
8,016,963,876 1,133,582,962 9,150,546,838
31 December 2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
MOP MOP MOP MOP
Contingent liabilities and
commitments
Pass 3,959,111,723 2,902,845,027 - 6,861,956,750
Special mention - 2,439,691 - 2,439,691
Substandard - - - -
Doubtful -
Loss - - - -
Less: Expected credit loss (3.450.714) (32,217.438) - (35,668,152)
3,955,661,009 2,873,067.280 - 6,828,728,289
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25,

26.

27

OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURES (continued)

25.1 Impairment allowance for contingent liabilities and commitments (continued)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
MOP Mor Mor MOP
ECL allowance
as at 1 January 2024 (3.450,714) (32,217,438) - (35,668,152)
New exposure (2,840,009) (42) - (2,840,051)
Exposure matured/ lapsed 234,163 16,088,171 - 16,322,334
Remeasurement 1,308,568 10,701,484 - 12,010,052
At 31 December 2024 (4,747,992 ) (5,427,825) - (10,175,817)
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
MOP mor Mor MOP
ECL allowance
as at 1 January 2023 (3,839,586) (7,735,059) - (11,574,645)
New exposure (2,530,515) (24,539,105) - (27.069,620)
Exposure matured/ lapsed 2,109,403 1,789,934 - 3,899,337
Remeasurement 809,984 (1,733,208) - (923,224)
At 31 December 2023 (3.450,714) (32,217,438) - (35.668,152)

OPERATING LEASES

The Branch leases certain of its office premises under operating lease arrangements. Leases for office
premises are negotiated for terms ranging from one to eight years. At 31 December 2024, the Branch
had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

2024 2023

MOP MOP

Within one year 24,141,540 26,133,582
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 63,356,267 79,622,298
Over five years 13,493,100 21,175,960
100,990,908 126,931,840

LITIGATION

Litigation provisions arise out of current or potential claims or pursuits alleging non-compliance with
contractual or other legal or regulatory responsibilities, which have resulted or may arise in claims
from customers, counterparties or other parties in civil litigations. The Branch is of the opinion that if
disclosing these events on a case-by-case basis would prejudice their outcome, then such detailed
disclosures have not been included in the Branch financial statements.
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28.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Branch had the
following transactions with related parties during the year:

Head Office

Interest income

Interest expenses

Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expenses
Gain on disposal of trade bills
Trading (losses)/ gains, net

Other related parties
Interest income
Fee and commission expenses
Management service fee expense

(b) Off-balance sheet exposures with related parties:

Head Office

Forward exchange rate contacts at
notional amount

Interest rate swaps

Commitments that are unconditionally
cancellable without prior notice

Transaction-related contingencies

Other related parties
Forward exchange rate contacts at
notional amount

2024 2023
MOP MOP
1,230,396,944 2,207,918,718
(993,777,332) (1,298,545,882)
196,261,664 305,600,233
(190,802,007) (302,396,173)
3,888,285 2,373,618
(309,626) 1,532,019
101,970 125,330
(1,810,210) (1,528,029)

(21,749,478)

(21,749,480)

2024
MOP

58,104,774,548
51,183,497

(63,236,245)
(2,652,530)

2023
MOP

1,616,318,494
160,198,980

(1,936,998,813)
(76,131,506)

22,705,134,576

30,741,108,821
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28. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

(¢) Outstanding balances with related parties:

Head Office
Cash and balances with banks
Placements with banks
Advances and other accounts
Prepayment and other assets
Derivative financial assets
Deposits and balances with banks and other
financial institutions
Derivative financial liabilities

Other related parties
Cash and balance with banks
Advances and other accounts
Derivative financial assets
Deposits from customers
Derivative financial liabilities

2024 2023
MOP MOP
617,946,678 922,771,465
27,716,130,270 38,307,231,429
1,327,504,090 2,236,600,553
6,020,173 26,661,153
102,386,206 19,727,864
(36,264,366,295) (37,366,700,345)
- (2,433,461)
266,785,271 309,877,892
53,712,724 3,732,297
1,108,056,111 253,290,360
6,918,597 1,412,066

(1,159,635,677)

(235,353,094)

(d) Transactions with key management personnel of the Branch

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Branch directly or indirectly. The Branch accepts
deposits from and grants loans and credit facilities to key management personnel in the ordinary
course of business. The transactions with key management personnel of the Branch have been

included in note 28 (a) and 28 (c).

(e) Compensation of key management personnel of the Branch

Short-term employee benefits

Total compensation paid to key management personnel

2024 2023
MOP MOP
2,602,993 2,562,776
2,602,993 2,562,776

The amounts disclosed in the table are the amounts recognised as an expense during the reporting

period related to key management personnel.
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29.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
29.1 Assets and liabilities by fair value hierarchy

The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the
fair value hierarchy:

31 December 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
MOP MOP MOP MOP

Assets measured at fair value on

a recurring basis
Derivative financial instruments - 1,214,983,570 - 1,214,983,570
Debt instruments at fair value

through other comprehensive

income 16,863,291 346 11,486,229,389 - 28,349,520,735
Equity instruments at fair value

through other comprehensive

income - - 1,403,016 1,403,016
Total assets measured at fair value

on a recurring basis 16,863,291,346 12,701,212,959 1,403,016 29,565,907,321
Total financial assets measured at

fair value 16,863,291,346 12,701,212,959 1,403,016 29,565,907,321

Liabilities measured at fair
value on a recurring basis

Derivative financial instruments - 1,163,162,677 - 1,163,162,677
Total liabilities measured at fair

value on a recurring basis - 1,163,162,677 - 1,163,162,677
Total financial liabilities measured

at fair value - 1,163,162,677 - 1,163,162,677

There were no financial asset and liability transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 for the Branch during
the year (2023: Nil).

29.2 Movements in Level 3 financial instruments measured at fair value

As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of Level 3 financial asset was MOP1,403,016 (2023:
MOP1,403,016).

Transfers from Level 3 to Level 2 occur when the market for some securities became more liquid,
which eliminates the need for the previously required significant unobservable valuation inputs. Since
the transfer, these instruments have been valued using valuation models incorporating observable
market inputs. Transfers into Level 3 reflect changes in market conditions as a result of which
instruments become less liquid. Therefore, the Branch requires significant unobservable inputs to
calculate their fair value. During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between
Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2023: Nil).
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29. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

29.3 Impact on fair value of Level 3 financial instruments measured at fair value of changes to
key assumptions

The following table summarises the valuation techniques together with the significant unobservable
inputs used to calculate the fair value of the Branch’s Level 3 assets and liabilities. The range of values
indicates the highest and lowest level input used in the valuation technique and, as such, only reflects
the characteristics of the instruments as opposed to the level of uncertainty in their valuation.
Relationships between unobservable inputs have not been incorporated in this summary.

Significant Sensitivity of fair value
Valuation technique unobservable input to the input

Unlisted equity investments ~Market-most ~ recent Precedent transaction 5% increase/decrease in
financing price price multiple would result in
method increase/decrease in fair

value by MOP70,151

29.4. Fair value of financial instruments not measured at fair value

Below are the methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values for the financial
instruments which are not recorded and measured at fair value in the Branch’s financial statements.

Cash and balance with banks and deposits with AMCM and deposits and balances from banks and
other financial institutions

Substantially all the financial assets and liabilities mature within one year, the carrying amounts,
which are net of impairment, are a reasonable approximation of their fair value.

Placement with banks

Substantially all the balance mature within one year, the carrying amounts, which are net of
impairment, are a reasonable approximation of their fair value.

Advances (l”d t‘)."h(ﬂ' accounts

Advances and other accounts are net of allowances for impairment. Majority of the advances and other
accounts are on floating rate terms, bear interest at prevailing market interest rate. The Branch has
assessed that the fair value of advances and other accounts, after taking into account the relevant
market interest rates and net of allowances for impairment, is not materially different from their
carrying amounts,

Investment in securities at amortised cost

The fair value of securities measured at amortised cost is determined using the same approach as those
securities measured at fair value. Further details are described in note 17 to the financial statements.
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29.

30.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
29.4 Fair value of financial instruments not measured at fair value (continued)
Deposits from customer

Substantially all the deposits from customers mature within one year from the reporting date and their
carrying value approximates fair value.

Debt securities in issue

The fair value of these instruments is determined by using the same approach as those debt securities
and certificates of deposit measured at fair value as described in note 24 to the financial statements.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
30.1 Introduction and risk profile

Whilst risk is inherent in the Branch’s activities, it is managed through an integrated risk management
framework, including ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring, and subject to risk limits
and other controls. This process of risk management is critical to the Branch’s continuing profitability
and each individual within the Branch is accountable for the risk exposures relating to his or her
responsibilities. The Branch is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, the latter being
subdivided into trading and non-trading risks. It is also subject to country risk and various operating
and business risks.

30.1.1 Risk management structure

The Branch’s Senior Management is responsible for the overall risk management approach and for
approving the risk management strategies and principles.

The Risk Management and Internal Control Committee has the overall responsibility for the
development of the risk strategy and implementing principles, frameworks, policies and limits. The
Risk Management and Internal Control Committee is responsible for managing risk decisions,
monitoring the overall risk process and risk levels.

The Risk Management Department is the leading department responsible for the Branch’s overall risk
management. It is responsible for implementing and maintaining risk related procedures to ensure an
independent control process is maintained and for monitoring compliance with risk principles, policies
and limits across the Branch. It works closely with and reports to the Risk Management and Internal
Control Committee to ensure that procedures are compliant with the overall framework.
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30.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
30.2 Risk governance and risk management strategies and systems

The Branch’s risk management governance is guided by the risk appetite as expressed by the Head
Office and regulatory requirements. The statements of risk appetite is reviewed regularly and is
transmitted through policies. The Risk Management Department of the Branch is responsible for
implementing risk strategies developed by the Head Office, assessing the overall risk profile on a
regular basis and organising the comprehensive risk management work across the Branch.

Aligning with the risk management strategies of CCB Group, the Risk Management Department has
continuously enhanced the risk culture in the Branch with the publication of risk reports, risk analysis
and training material to all the users in the Branch.

30.3 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the Branch will incur a loss because its customers or counterparties fail to
discharge their contractual obligations. The Branch manages and controls credit risk by setting limits
on the amount of risk it is willing to accept for individual counterparties and for geographical and
industry concentrations, and by monitoring exposures in relation to such limits.

The Risk Management Department is the leading department responsible for overall management of
the Branch's credit risk and it coordinates with other business departments to implement credit risk
management policies and procedures.

With respect to credit risk management of corporate and institutional business, the Branch’s credit risk
management covers process such as pre-lending (investment) due diligence, credit (investment)
inspection and post-lending (investment) monitoring for credit granting business. The Branch
performs pre-lending (investment) investigations by assessing the borrower’s credit ratings based on
internal rating criteria, performs a comprehensive evaluation of the risks and rewards of the credit plan
and completes an evaluation report. Approvals must be authorized by approvers with the appropriate
authorization. The Branch conducts continuous post-lending (investment) monitoring activities, any
events and emergencies that may result in significant credit risk are reported timely and measures are
implemented to prevent and control risks.

With respect to the personal credit business, the Branch relies on credit assessment of applicants as
the basis for loan approval. Customer relationship managers are required to assess the income, credit
history and repayment ability of the applicant. The customer relationship managers then forward the
applications and recommendations to the authorized loan approvers for consent. The Branch pays great
attention to post-lending monitoring of personal loans and once a loan become overdue, the Branch
starts the recovery process according to the standard procedures.

To mitigate risks, the Branch requests the customers to provide collateral and pledges or guarantees
where appropriate. A refined management system and operating procedure for collateral and pledges
have been developed and there is guideline to specify the suitability of accepting specific types of
collateral and pledges. The values, structures and legal covenants of collateral and pledges are
continuously monitored to ensure that they still serve their intended purposes conform to market
practices.
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30.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
30.3 Credit risk (continued)

30.3.1 Impairment assessment

The references below show where the Branch’s impairment assessment and measurement approach is
set out in this report. It should be read in conjunction with the Summary of significant accounting
policies.

30.3.1.1 Definition of default and cure

The Branch considers a financial instrument defaulted and therefore Stage 3 (credit-impaired) for ECL
calculations in all cases when the borrower becomes 90 days past due on its contractual payments. The
Branch considers treasury and interbank balances defaulted and takes immediate action when the
required intraday payments are not settled by the close of business as outlined in the individual
agreements.

As a part of a qualitative assessment of whether a customer is in default, the Branch also considers a
variety of instances that may indicate unlikeliness to pay. When such events occur, the Branch
carefully considers whether the event should lead to default position and therefore assess as Stage 3
for ECL calculations or maintain at Stage 2. Such events include:

* Internal rating of the borrower indicating default or marginal to default

*  The borrower having past due liabilities to public creditors or employees

* The borrower is deceased or terminated its operation

* A material decrease in the underlying collateral value where the recovery of the loan is expected
from the sale of the collateral

* A material decrease in the borrower’s turnover or the loss of a major customer

* A covenant breach not waived by the Branch

* The debtor (or any legal entity within the debtor’s group) filing for bankruptcy
application/protection

*  Debtor’s listed debt or equity suspended at the primary exchange because of rumours or facts
about financial difficulties

It is the Branch’s policy to consider a financial instrument as ‘cured’ and therefore re-classified out of
Stage 3 when none of the default condition has been existed for at least six consecutive months. The
decision whether to classify an asset as Stage 2 or Stage 1 once cured depends on the updated credit
grade, at the time of the cure, and whether this indicates there has been a material reduction in credit
risk compared to the last grading.
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30.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
30.3 Credit risk (continued)

30.3.1 Impairment assessment (continued)

30.3.1.2 The Branch’s internal rating and PD estimation process

The Head Office develops and manages the internal rating models. The Branch runs separate models
for its key portfolios in which its customers are rated from 1 to 19 using internal grades. The models
incorporate both qualitative and quantitative information and, in addition to information specific to
the borrower, utilise supplemental external information that could affect the borrower’s behaviour.
These information sources are first used to determine the probability of defaults (PDs) within the
Branch’s Basel 111 framework. The internal credit grades are assigned based on these Based Il grades.
PDs are then adjusted for IFRS 9 ECL calculations to incorporate forward looking information and
the IFRS 9 Stage classification of the exposure. This is repeated for each economic scenarios as
appropriate.

30.3.1.3 Exposure at default

The exposure at default (EAD) represents the gross carrying amount of the financial instruments
subject to the impairment calculation, addressing both the client’s ability to increase its exposure while
approaching default and potential early repayments too. To calculate the EAD for a Stage 1 loan, the
Branch assesses the possible default events within 12 months for the calculation of the 12mECL.
However, if a Stage 1 loan that is expected to default in the 12 months from the reporting date and is
also expected to cure and subsequently default again, then all linked default events are taken into
account. For Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI financial assets, the exposure at default is considered for
events over the lifetime of the instruments. The Branch determines EADs by modelling the range of
possible exposure outcomes at various points in time, corresponding the multiple scenarios. The IFRS
9 PDs are then assigned to each economic scenario based on the outcome of the Branch’s models.

30.3.1.4 Loss given default

The credit risk assessment is based on a standardised LGD assessment framework that results in a
certain LGD rate. These LGD rates take into account the expected EAD in comparison to the amount
expected to be recovered or realised from any collateral held.

The Branch segments its retail lending products into smaller homogeneous portfolios, based on key
characteristics that are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows. The applied data is based on
historically collected loss data and involves a wider set of transaction characteristics (e.g., product
type, wider range of collateral types) as well as borrower characteristics.
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30.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
30.3 Credit risk (continued)

30.3.1 Impairment assessment (continued)

30.3.1.4 Loss given default (continued)

Further recent data and forward-looking economic scenarios are used in order to determine the IFRS
9 LLGD rate for each group of financial instruments. When assessing forward-looking information, the
expectation is based on multiple scenarios. Examples of key inputs involve changes in, collateral
values including property prices for mortgages, commodity prices, payment status or other factors
that are indicative of losses in the branch. The Branch estimates regulatory and IFRS 9 LGDs on a
different basis. Under IFRS 9, LGD rates are estimated for the Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI
IFRS 9 segment of each asset class. The inputs for these LGD rates are estimated and, where possible,
calibrated through back testing against recent recoveries. These are repeated for each economic
scenario as appropriate.

30.3.1.5 Significant increase in credit risk

The Branch continuously monitors all assets subject to ECLs. In order to determine whether an
instrument or a portfolio of instruments is subject to 12mECL or LTECL, the Branch assesses whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

The Branch also applies a secondary qualitative method for triggering a significant increase in credit
risk for an asset, such as moving a customer/facility to the watch list, or the account becoming
forborne. In certain cases, the Branch may also consider that events trigger financial difficulties are a
significant increase in credit risk as opposed to a default. Regardless of the change in credit grades, if
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, the credit risk is deemed to have increased
significantly since initial recognition.

When estimating ECLs on a collective basis for a group of similar assets, the Branch applies the same
principles for assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

30.3.1.6 Grouping financial assets measured on a collective basis

The Branch calculates ECLs either on a collective or an individual basis. Asset classes where the
Branch calculates ECL on an individual basis include:

*  All Stage 3 assets, regardless of the class of financial assets

*  The Corporate lending portfolio

*  The large and unique exposures of the Small business lending portfolio

*  The treasury, trading and interbank relationships (such as Due from Banks, Cash collateral on
securities borrowed and reverse repurchase agreements and debt instruments at amortised
cost/FVOCI

*  Exposures that have been classified as POCI when the original loan was derecognised and a new
loan was recognised as a result of a credit driven debt restructuring
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30.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
30.3 Credit risk (continued)

30.3.1 Impairment assessment (continued)

30.3.1.6 Grouping financial assets measured on a collective basis (continued)

Asset classes where the Branch calculates ECL on a collective basis include:
* The smaller and more generic balances of the Branch's Small business lending

* Stage 1 and 2 Retail mortgages and Consumer lending
*  Purchased POCI exposures managed on a collective basis

30.3.2 Analysis of inputs to the ECL model under multiple economic scenarios

Expected losses are calculated as a result of future events, depending on their probability of
occurrence. Accordingly, CCB Head Office establishes a set of macroeconomic scenarios that inform
the calculation of impairment and allow adjustments to be made in accordance with the expected
evolution of the economy and locality. The methodology used to gauge the macroeconomic scenarios
and their probability of occurrence is described in the methodological document for the preparation of
macroeconomic scenarios.

30.3.3 Analysis of risk concentration

The Branch’s concentrations of risk are managed by counterparty, intra-group exposures, loan
portfolios, geographical region (see Note 30.6.1) and industry sector. There are maximum exposure
limits to certain industry to ensure concentration risk is within our acceptable range.

30.3.4 Collateral and other credit enhancements

The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the
counterparty.

Guidelines are in place covering the acceptability and valuation of each type of collateral.

The main types of collateral obtained are, as follows:

*  For securities lending and reverse repurchase transactions, cash or securities

*  For corporate and small business lending, charges over real estate properties, trade receivables
and, in special circumstances, government guarantees

*  For retail lending, mortgages over residential properties, securities and insurance policies

The Branch also obtains guarantees from parent companies for loans to their subsidiaries.

Management monitors the market value of collateral and will request additional collateral in
accordance with the underlying agreement.
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30.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
30.3 Credit risk (continued)

30.3.4 Collateral and other credit enhancements (continued)

In its normal course of business, the Branch appoints legal representative to recover funds from
repossessed properties or other assets in its retail portfolio, generally at judicial auction, to settle
outstanding debt. Any surplus funds are returned to the customers/obligors. As a result of this practice,
the residential properties under legal repossession processes are not recorded on the statement of
financial position and not treated as non—current assets held for sale.

For its derivative portfolio, the Branch also makes use of master netting agreements and other
arrangements not eligible for netting under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation with its
counterparties. Such arrangements provide for single net settlement of all financial instruments
covered by the agreements in the event of default on any one contract. Although, these master netting
arrangements do not normally result in an offset of balance-sheet assets and liabilities (as the
conditions for offsetting under IAS 32 may not apply), they, nevertheless, reduce the Branch’s
exposure to credit risk, as shown in the tables on the following pages.

Although master netting arrangements may significantly reduce credit risk, it should be noted that the
credit risk is eliminated only to the extent of amounts due to the same counterparty.

Disclosure of credit quality and the maximum exposure for credit risk per categories based on the

Branch’s internal credit rating system and year-end stage classification are further disclosed in note
16.1, 17.1 and 25.1 to the financial statements.
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30.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
30.3 Credit risk (continued)

30.3.5 Maximum credit risk exposure

The following table presents the maximum exposure to credit risk as at the end of the reporting period
without taking into consideration any collateral held or other credit enhancement. In respect of the
financial assets recognised in the statement of financial position, the maximum exposure to credit risk
is represented by the carrying amount after deducting for any impairment allowance.

Financial assets

Cash and balances with banks

Deposits with Monetary Authority of Macao
Placement with banks

Advances and other accounts

Investment in securities

2024
MOP

4,235,856,533
453,226,978
29,197,632,456
41,558,699,264
31,977,318,912

2023
MOP

11,208,267,422

485,158,290
42,696,299.214
32,884,840,406
23,356,314,079

Derivatives financial instruments 1.214,983,570 284,511,165
Other assets 621,048,687 321,453,528
Total 109,258,766.400 111,236,844,104
Guarantees 675,154,583 715,584,202
Letters of credit for customers 1,753,431,658 2.416,978,796
Other commitments 6,732,549 ,662 3,731,833,443
Maximum credit risk exposure 118,419,902,303 118,101,240,545

The nature of collateral held and their financial effect by class of financial asset is described as follows:

Cash and balances with banks, Deposits with Monetary Authority of Macao and Placement with
banks

These exposures are generally considered to be low risk due to the nature of the counterparties.
Collateral is generally not sought on these balances.

Advances and other accounts

The exposures for advance to banks are generally considered to be low risk due to the nature of the
counterparties. Collateral is generally not sought on these balances.

The exposures for advance to customers and trade bills are secured, partially secured or unsecured
depending on the type of customers and the products offered to them. Types of collaterals include
residential properties, other properties, standby letters of credit acceptable to the Branch and bank
deposits, etc. Other credit enhancements mainly represent recognised guarantee.

As at December 2024, the estimated fair value of the collateral and other credit enhancements held

against lifetime ECL credit-impaired advances and other accounts is MOP332,620,679 (2023:
MOP334,739,700).
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30.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
30.3 Credit risk (continued)

30.3.5 Maximum credit risk exposure (continued)

(i) Gross advances and other accounts by industry sectors as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December
2023 are as below:

2024 2023
MOP MOP
Individuals
Loans for the purchase of properties 4,931,795,039 5,406,699,183

Others

Commercial and financial

6,593,159,240

5,081,895,346

Financial Services 16,306,411,569 8.071,081,275
Retails and Wholesale 1,754,013,929 1,224,175,807
Construction 1,112,443,299 447,944,147
Manufacturing 4,757,444,771 5,766,200,882
Renting and Commercial Services 401,876,234 1,888,199,715
Culture, Sports and Entertainment Industry 2,326,822,265 2,519,055,511
Real Estate 2,026,272,773 2,169,682,992
Others 1,895,685,718 922950471
Total 42,105,924,837 33,497 885,329

Investment in securities

(i) Investment in securities at FVOCI

The fair values of these securities have reflected the credit risk. No collateral is sought directly from
the issuer or the counterparty.

(ii) Investment in securities at amortised cost

The amortised costs of these securities have reflected the credit risk. No collateral is sought directly
from the issuer or the counterparty.

Derivatives financial instruments
Master netting agreements are typically used to enable the effects of derivative assets and liabilities

with the same counterparty to be offset if both the Branch and the counterparty elect to settle on a net
basis or in the event of default of either party.
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30.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
30.4 Liquidity risk and funding management

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Branch does not have sufficient liquid financial resources
to meet obligations associated with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another
financial asset. Liquidity risk arises because of the possibility that the Branch might be unable to meet
its payment obligations when they fall due as a result of mismatches in the timing of the cash flows
under both normal and stress circumstances. Such scenarios could occur when funding needed for
illiquid asset positions is not available to the Branch on acceptable terms. To limit this risk,
management has arranged for diversified funding sources in addition to its core deposit base, and
adopted a policy of managing assets with liquidity in mind and monitoring future cash flows and
liquidity on a daily basis. The Branch has developed internal control processes and contingency plans
for managing liquidity risk. The ALCO is responsible for managing the Branch’s liquidity risk through
comprehensive policies, governance and review procedures, stress testing, monitoring of limit sets to
ensure these are in line with the overall liquidity risk appetite and strategy of the Branch. The treasury
department of the Branch is responsible for working with other departments within the Branch to
ensure the liquidity risk strategy is executed. This incorporates an assessment of expected cash flows
and the availability of high-grade collateral which could be used to secure additional funding, if
required.

The Branch maintains a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets that are assumed to be easily
liquidated in the event of an unforeseen interruption in cash flow. The Branch also has lines of credit
that it can access to meet liquidity needs. Net liquid assets consist of cash, short-term bank deposits
and liquid debt securities available for immediate sale, less deposit for banks and other issued
securities and borrowings due to mature within the next month.

The Branch adopts liquidity indicator analysis, remaining maturity analysis and undiscounted cash
flow analysis to measure the liquidity risk.

68



69

SP6'R6F S6LE (Th6'0£5°S6) 6LLT19°05T'6 FHO'0ER'STT 61 (6£T°990°€91°LT) (L60'ETS LO6'L) £0FE81°6LS uopsod Apmbij 1N
10¥'TLO'TOS S01 01€° L9 E0E £56'0L0'YE £18°8€0°996 [IS'LIT0T9'LS Lot'9SL'TIL EF LIE'1TS'S98'T sanuIqe| [B10]
£99°6L1 v - - - £90°6L 1t - - a|qeded xey juamn)
9CLOETHEC 8 - - - £86'06S986° 1 €LI'089°L9C'9 - PONSST SATILINDAS 192
LLY'TOI' €911 - - 096'+19°C S1€°80L°009 9CR'PECHES £HSPRT0T SIUDWIRNSUL [EIJUBUL SaANBALDQ
008" 108'60¢ 01€° L9 €0 £65°E6£0E 129'8SL°11 8E1°H60°0T1 SEI88LEY - SanIIger| 2Y{o
STTEO6'LYO'L] ) 09¢°LLY'E SI0°LE0'99 I9€'IST°LEG'S 8+ 688 TTCS SO0'8PF'RIR'T siawoisnd woy susodag

08T'880°E81°89 - - LIT'8T9'S88 8HH LTS 1€6'SE OPR'EFI6ELIE 69L'88L'9T SUOLMITISUL [BIIUBUL] IO pue
syueq [im saoueeq pue sisodaq
sanIpqery
6YE 1LS L6T 601 89¢°0£6°L0T TEL'TRO'061'6 LSR'898"161°0T LUTISULSE O 00+ €€T°S08°S€E 0TLFOL P e SISSE [0 ]
100°F1E 1 100F1€+1 < = = - - sjasse xe] pauaja(
L89'8+0° 179 0P TTL LI = 066'65L°6 LPL'LI6'TT LES 8F90TH - S1asse 12310
86’064 1T 876" 068" +T - - = = - juawidinba pue Auadosy
OLS'E86'FIT'1 - . LSL'LOO0'F STHOLS FHL 8LSCTS I 01S'1T8'+C SIUDLINIASUL [BIDUBUL SIAHRALI(
TI6'RIELLO'IE LIO'E0F' 1 PECTILLLOT $R9°LECTORTS 801°689'+TC LI SOL'FLI'LRYO & SAMUNIIS Ul SIUDUNSIAU]
FOT 66985 It - R6L'R96'TISO 66T 6FL'86LS 8TEH91°+0S'01 FITLTR COFLT STI'S86'8EE°1 SIUNOIIE JIYI0 PUE SIOUBAPY
9SH'TEY'LOT 6T = B 9ZI'+$6'T60'6 F09 P08 0981 1 OTL'ELYEHFTS - SHURQ [ILM SIUDLWAOR| ]
BL6'9TT'ESH T = = o 2 8L6'9TTESH sanuomne Arelauow ia sisodaq
EESOSR'SET Y - - & = 9TH'SR8'LO9'T LOUIL6'LTY'T SYURQ [IM SAOUB[EY PUE (sE)
S]assy

JdON JdON dOW JOW JdOW dOW dJOW

jelog, paywadsun sauadk £ 1PAQ SIBIL g 01 | syjuow 7] 0) € SYJuow § UBL) sSa] PuBWAP uQ $Z0T PquIddA( 1€

Surnuodar ay) jo pua 2y 1e se juowAedar o) spouad JuruTewAl AY) UO paseq

:pouad
youelq 2y} JO SANI[IQBI] PUE SJAsse ay) Jo sisA[eue ue apiroid sajqe) SuImo[[o] Y],

mmm.?—mﬂ.m >HE—.5N2 I'¥°0¢
(ponunuod) yuswaSeuew Surpuny pue ysu1 Apmbry $0g

(panunuod) SHIDI'TOd ANV SHALLDAMHO INTFWADOVNVIN ST TVIONVNIA 0¢

20T 12quida( 1¢
SINGWILVLS TVIONVNI4 OL SHLON

HONVYE NVOVIA NOLLVIOJdYOD JNVE NOILLONYLSNOD VNIHO



0L

981 +0'$09°E (9€L°TO8'11€E) CRT6SISTF G 8TO'SLYELY LI (L8T'0C0°LTO'RT) (966'8TE'886'C) e1'656'CE0’l uonised pmbry jay
TR COTTLYLOT 6L LROTIH £00°819°€ OFL'698°9TF' | FLR7980°L688E 1S1°896 FI8 18€°€L8901°T santqer] ejo],
FOFOPS Th - = = Por ors Tl - - ajqeded xewaun)
SOR'ETROT09E = & - SOFTPO 1E6'TT 00F 188 v60°E] = Panssi SanLnaas jqa(]
1+0T9 1LT = - - L96°LES'TRI PO6°LLT 9L 011°9%9°C1 SJUSWNNSUT [EIOUEUL] S2ATIRALID(
L60P01°T9% 6LF'LROT 1Y 8TERER'] TLESHTE LIE681°6 6F1°61£TL T00'FLEFT sanijiger 2mo
6E9'FIE Tal Tl - SLY6LL] FILREF 6F 06£661°098°L S8LERCTITY TLTEIE'RIO0T SIatuoIsnd wolj susodac

TRL'FSRCLO'08 - = PEP SEIPLE'] ISTILTILELT 0S8°S06'8LELT Lel'Trs IS SUONMISUT [E13UeUl] 1DY0 pue
syueq it saoueleq pue spsodag
sanmqery
PIEOSLCLT LN EPLP8T 66 SRTLOY'RTV'6 89L°L¥S 00681 LSC9E9°0LR OF CCI'6ETOERRE ELLVERBELE SIASSE |B10 |
[LTF96'F] ILTH96'F1 - o > - - SI2SSE XE] pauaja
RTSESHITE LIS'SL6'SS = SLEPLYLT OL6'H9199 8THOTI I¥] TELLITLT Slasse RIPO
6£6'1H6'ET 626 TH6'ET = - - - = wawdinba pue Auadoig
COITIS+8T - - - 1ZL°1Z1881 76991 +L TEL'TOI'TT SIUALNIGSUL [BIIUBUL S2ANBALI(]
6LOTIEISEET 910'c0¥’ 1 OFL0ER E60°] 0E1'60T 08T L 6SLEIESIROL STFLEC Tl = SANLN2AS Ul SHUDLNSIAUL
90t 0F8 ¥RETE - THEoLoPEE'S £85°6E9°ERO T09°L96°eS1°01 0LS'8TO9FT 6 601°8TT 99 SUNOIIE DO PUE SAOUBAPY
PITH6T 969 T = = 089°FZ0°606'9 6CS 89L°EF961 SO090S°EF191 = SYUBQ M SJUIWAIR|
06T 8C1°CRY 2 - 3 = i 06T RS17CSY sanuogne Aepuoll (s sisodag]
TCH LYTROTTI - - - - TECHTTH90'6 068°LE06ENT Syueq s saourjeq pue ysen
s1assy

JdON JdON JdON dON JdOW JOW JdON

®10], payadsupny saead § 1A SIBAA g 0] | sijuow 7 0j § SYJUOW § WEL) sS] puBwWwAp UQ €207 Fquada(g ¢

{penunuod) SISA[eUE AJUMEBN [ 1 0¢
(panunuod) Juswaseurw Surpuny pue ysu Appmbry $°0¢

(penunuod) SHIDI'TOd ANV SHALLOAM40 INTFWADVNVIN MSTY TVIONVNIA 0t

¥TOT 1equiade(] [¢
SINHWHLVLS TVIONVNIA OL SHLON

HONVYE NVOVIN NOLLVIOd™OD JANVE NOLLOMILSNOD VNIHO



IL

SIDMURIENS PUR SIUDUOIWIWOD [B10]

saoueIend pue SUALLIILWOD 1210
PUS]| 0] SJUSUNILULOD UMEIPUN IOI0)
SIOLUOISND 10J J1Pa1d JO S1Na ]
saojuBIEND)

FT0T 2quaRg It

saniqel|
[EIDUBUL) PAIUNODSIPUN [B1O0 ]

LTETTO'0F9'ET = 176'FPE6°FEL'S 665°01L°080°T £ST6E1°LOS'S PSLLEI'SIE0L -
FITOEI'TEL'O - 0T0CISTTH'S FETHI9' 1611 TLE 189011 889°LLTL -
TLR'661°08F 71 - 106'TTO11E 78S°9LE°RTS FPI'€90°CE’' Y SHPTLER90S'S -

85O 1EH°ESL L - - - TIT9EE’S OFF S60°8EL T =

€8S PS1°6L9 E 000°66% £8L°699°09 STH'8S0'8SS SLELT6'SS =

dOW dOW dON dOW JdOW dOW dOW

[Bl0] pauadsun SIBAA ¢ J9AQ siA g0l syjuow 7j 03 ¢ Syjuow ¢ uUBY) $S°]  PUBWRAP UQ
859°60F'SE1°SO1 01€°L9%°€0E SIH06SFE 91£°0ZF t96 9L 1'FE0°689°LS 80L°099'10£°EF PLLOET SHR'T
£99°6L1 1 - - - €00°6L1 - -

QLT SPT'HSSRI - - = £85°9S5"986°1 | £69°989°L959 -

008°105°608 01€°L9FE0E £65°€6£°0€ 1T9'8SL° 11 8€1°v60°0T1 SE1'S8LEP £
EES'R6LIIET LI - TTR961'F TLL'SFL'69 6L0°6L9°001°6 CCR'RTLSET'S SO0'8FH818'T
08£°980°86.°89 - - €T6'S16°788 €L9PTS LEFOC [TO°LSH'ISH 1€ 69L°88L°9T
dOW dOW dOW dOW dOW dON dOW

[B10], paypadsun siedf £ 12AQ SIBAA g 01 | sjjuow 7j 01 ¢ SYJUOW ¢ UEL) SS?] PUBWAP UQ

aiqeAed xe) Juaun))
panss| SaNLINAs 19
SanIfIqel| 2o
SI2W0ISND woly spsodagy
SUONMUSUL [RIDURUL] 1DYIO
PUuE SjuRq )im saduejeq pue susodag]

PT0T Pquda( It

"SISA[BUR SIY} WOy A[JUedyTUSIS ATeA ABUI SJUSWNLISUT 2SAY] UO SMO} Ysed pajoadxa s youelg ay [ ‘pouad Surpodal ay) Jo pua ayj je se youelg 1} JO SUUNIUWUIOD
JIPaID 199YS JOUB[RG-]JO PUB SAMI[IQEI] [BIOUBUI} SANBALIOP-UOU 3y} JO MO[J [SEBD PAUNOISIPUN [enjornuod ay) Jo sisA[eue ue apiaoid sajqe) SuImo[oj ayL

SanI[Iqe1] [E1OUBUL) JO SMO[] [SEd pajunodsIpun jo SaljUnjel [enjoenuod sullieway ¢ ¢ 0¢

(panupuod) judmwaseurul suipuny pue ysr Apmbiy $°0¢

(panunuod) SHIDITOd ANV SHALLOArd0 INFWADVNVIN MSIY TVIONVNIA 0€

YCOT 13quiada(] 1€

SINAWALVLS TVIONVNIA OL SHLON

HONVYIE NVOVIN NOLLVIOJYO0D MNVE NOLLONYLSNOD VNIHOD



“SJUAUNIUITOD 3} JO A1dXD 210§2q UMEIP 3q [[IAM SJUSWIWIWOD IO SIYI[IGRI] JUDSUTIUOD ]} JO [[B 10U Jeyf) $10adXa youelg S,

6T8'vSY'888TE - €9S°€1T6E8 S0S'REY'SEL'E IvTL8S°€9S91 0TS'S10°0SL°11 . SIAUEIENS PUE SPUSURURLOD [E10 ]
88E°8S0HT0'9T 2 SL6TSI'06 LES'ETL'S98 0 PEITISSI POL LPO'FST 6 - SAUEIENT PUE SIIUNIWILOD JDYIO
EPPEES IEL'E - 88ST195°8PL ¥06'LOS'LO8'T 9SE'9PR'PS| S68°L16'0T - PUa] 01 SIUAUNIUILIOD UMBIPUR DO
96L'8L691H'T - 2 - P98 ELI"91 TE6'108°00F°T - SIDWOISND 10§ JPAID JO SIANI]
TOTYRS'SIL - 000°66% vr0'LOY'TY 656 TEY'LS 661°SPTHL - saaueIEND)
dOW dOW dOW dOn dOW dOW dOW
=0 paypadsun SIBIA ¢ 1340 SIBIA £ 01 | syjuowi 7f 0} ¢ SYIUOW ¢ UBI) SS]  PUBWAP U €207 12quada( 1€
LTEERTHII'801 $E0'680°0FE OLI'FIS’] 63L° 10V 68Y | $99°SS1°€95°6S PREFISLITHY ¥8TRO0T0S'T santiqel|
[BIDURUL] P2IUNODSIPUN [BIO |
POrorS T - < - FOrOrSTh - # ajqeded xey juaun)
I€S°S8TTET9E - - = EETELTLOOET 86T°T10°STTEN - panss1 SOLINGAS 1G3(]
L60'P01°T9F SE0°'680°07E . ILLTIY'Y9 162°€09°LS - - SaIqeL] YO
0T8°1S6'¢79F | - OLI'FIS'L P9SPS8 0S IL6'0E1°SOF'S LTO'989°SEL'E 880'99F°0SH'T swolsna woly sisodaq
SIYS6EEEL S - - PSP SEIpLE 90L°109°050°8T 6S0°911°LST'LT 961°TPS’ 1S suonmpsut [BOUBUL YO
pue syueq yim sadueeq pue sysodag]
dOW dOW dOW dOW dOW dOW dOW
L3 ﬁwcmuﬂumc: SABIA £ 130 sieak fol] Sijjuows gy 0] £ Sjjuoll ¢ ueyd ssa| puBwR2p U £Z07 BPqudaQ 1¢

(ponunu0d) SANIIGEI] [EIOUEUL] JO SMO[J (SO PAIUNOJSIPUN JO SINUMBW [BNIIENUOD SUMUTRWRY TH0€

(panunuod) Judwedeusw uipuny pue ysu Appmbry o

(penunuod) SHIDI'TOd ANV SHALLOACE0 INFWADVNVIN ASTH TVIONVNIA 0¢

FCOT 1PqUIR™(] [t
SINGWHLVLS TVIONVNIA OL SHLON

HONVYE NVOVIN NOLLVIOd ™0 ANVE NOLLOMILSNOD VNIHO



CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK CORPORATION MACAU BRANCH

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

30.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
30.5 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate
due to changes in market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, credit spreads and
equity prices.

The market risk metrics are monitored through the implementation of Value at Risk (VaR), Expected
Shortfall and Three Worst during the investment holding period. Backtesting is a periodic comparison
of the daily VaR using historical simulations with the actual profit/loss. This comparison determines
the number of times in which the losses have surpassed the VaR value, assessing on the strength of
the assumptions, quality and precision of the VaR model. The Branch has also implemented triggers
of stop-loss mechanism in the Investment portfolio.

The Branch’s risk management strategy for its Branch’s book is different for each of the following
categories of market risk and is set out in the subsequent subsections of these financial statements, as
follows:

+ Interest rate risk in note 30.5.1.1

« Currency risk in note 30.5.1.2

Market risk limits are set and continuously reviewed by the Branch’s Risk Management Division. As
a part of their established market risk management process, it also monitors early signs of possible
changes in market conditions such as: anticipated and actual changes to interest rates; socio-economic
factors driving mortgage prepayment behaviours; and economic and geopolitical factors driving
currency and equity price movements. Market risk limits are ultimately approved by the Board of our
Head Office.

At an operational level, market risk is primarily managed by the Branch’s treasury department, which
is responsible for ensuring that the Branch’s exposures are in compliance with market risk limits

approved by the Board and to take adequate actions when necessary.

The Branch’s risk management strategies in relation to market risks are explained under the
corresponding subheadings on the following pages.
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
30.5 Market risk (continued)
30.5.1.1 Interest rate risk

The Branch’s primary business model is to collect deposits, and use these funds to provide loans and
other funding products and debt instruments to its customers. Interest rate risk is the impact that
changes in interest rates could have on the Branch’s margins, profit or loss, and equity. Interest risk
arises from the mismatch of interest payable on the Branch’s liabilities and the interest earned on its
assets.

The Branch'’s asset-liability profile of its Branch’s book is such that:
+ Interest on deposits is primarily either floating or their maturities are so short term that their
behaviour is similar to floating rate instruments
« Interest rates payable on issued debt are primarily fixed
+ The Branch’s loan portfolio is a mixture of fixed and floating rates instruments

As a part of the Branch’s risk management strategy, the Board has established limits on the non
trading interest rate gaps for the interest rate sensitivities. These limits are consistent with the Branch’s
enterprise risk appetite.

The Branch’s policy is to monitor positions on a daily basis. The Branch’s book interest rate risk is
monitored using various interest rate shock scenarios, including sensitivity of profit or loss and equity,
both of which incorporate the effect of existing hedging activities, but do not include any management
actions that could arise as the markets change. The sensitivity of profit or loss is the effect of the
assumed changes in interest rates on the profit or loss over a 12-month horizon and measures
sensitivities to short-term interest rate changes.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The Branch's equity sensitivity to changes in interest rates is a measure of the sensitivities of its asset
and liability mismatches to longer-term interest rate changes. The sensitivities include assumptions
for product maturities and renewals along with certain customer behaviours (including prepayments
and redemptions). The Branch calculates these measures as the change in the present value of its asset
and liability portfolios, including off-balance sheet instruments, resulting from an immediate and
sustained interest rate shocks.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible parallel changes in interest
rates (all other variables being constant) of the Branch’s profit or loss:

2024 2023

(Decrease)/ increase in Increase/(decrease) in

profit before tax profit before tax

MOP MOP

Increase by 200bps (31,733,778) 19,899,102
Decrease by 200bps 31,733,778 (19,899,102)
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30.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

30.5 Market risk (continued)

30.5.1.2 Currency risk

The Branch’s assets and liabilities are denominated in major currencies, particularly HK Dollar, US
Dollar and Renminbi. To ensure the currency risk exposure of the Branch is kept to an acceptable
level, risk limits (e.g. Position and VaR limit) are used to serve as a monitoring tool. Moreover, the
Branch seeks to minimise the gap between assets and liabilities in the same currency. Foreign exchange
contracts (e.g. FX swaps) are usually used to manage FX risk associated with foreign currency-

denominated assets and liabilities.

The following is a summary of the Branch’s long or short position of foreign currencies other than
the Branch’s functional currency that occupied over 10% of the total FX position.

2024
Forward
Currency Spot Assets Spot Liabilities Purchases Forward Sales Net Position
MOP MOP MOP MOP MoOP
HKD 13,172,658,128 (22,731,517,443) 9,103,047,182 (46,965,609) (502,777,742)
usD 27,168,691,591 (4,867,138,354)  30,200,049,301 (49,087,306,586) 3,414,295,952
CNY 57,410,220,693 (73,060,100,463)  41,439,808,257  (25,798,358,825) (8,430,338)
97,751,570,412  (100,658,756,260)  80,742,904,740  (74,932,631,020) 2,903,087,872
2023
Forward
Currency Spot Assets  Spot Liabilities Purchases Forward Sales Net Position
MOP MOP MOP MOP MOP
HKD 11,677,834,232 12,523,049,545 1,932,522,429 1,096,041,442 (8,734,326)
UsSD 35,372,578,008 26,218,412,142 12,908,885,231 19,403,872,298 2,659,178,799
CNY 56,215,563,320 64,813,376,471 18,671,780,460 10,085,150,744 (11,183,429)

30.6 Country risk

103,265,975,566

103,554,838,158

33,513,188,120

30,585,064,484

2,639,261,044

30.6.1 Geographical analysis

31 December 2024

Mainland China

Hong Kong SAR

Advance and
other accounts
MOP
26,511,594,989
4,019,612,308

Macau SAR 11,290,144,696
United Kingdom 272,895,755
Other 11,677,089

Total

Investment in
securities
MOP
27,998.615,907
1,516,708,811
394,165,706

2,069,873,314

Placements
with banks
MOP
27,582,807,380

1,615.463,457

Derivative
financial
instruments
MOP
2,250,682,156
54,124,513,749
16,222,292
24.485,896,716
6,284,660

Total

MOP
84,343,700,432
59,660,834,868
11,700,532,694
24,758,792.471
3,703,298.,520

42,105,924,837

31,979,363,738

29,198,270,837

80,883,599,573

184,167,158,985
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30.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

30.6 Country risk (continued)

30.6.1 Geographical analysis (continued)

Derivative

Advance and Investment in  Placements with financial
31 December 2023 other accounts securities banks instruments Total
MOP Mop MOP MOP MOP
Mainland China 17,804,517,308 12,609,040,796 36,697,266,375 1,776,517,474 68,887,341 953
Hong Kong SAR 3,735,910,352 5,480,932.975 - 23,274,707,393 32,491,550,720
Macau SAR 10,582,647.894 4,015,395,540 2,316,212,264 - 16,914,255,698
United Kingdom 1,054.904.256 48,344,188 - 8,737,753,957 9.841,002,401
Other 319,905,519 1,208,198,6066 3.686,831.624 44,662,678 5,259,598,487
Total 33,497 885,329 23,361,912,165 42,700,310,263 33,833,641,502  133,393,749,259

3(0.7 Operational risk

Operational risk is defined as the risk of losses resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes,
people, systems or external events. To mitigate the relevant risks, the Branch maintains a
comprehensive policies and control framework designed to provide a sound and well-controlled
operational environment, including a sound risk management system, adequate policies & procedures
and monitoring system; record keeping requirement; compliance review; prudent credit approval
policy and reconciliation standard; internal control, audit review, staff appraisal and regular review
undertaken by external audits; established positive risk culture emphasizing high standard integrity,
business ethics and risk awareness of staff. Each Line of Business is responsible for managing the
operational risks of its business and operation. Moreover, the Bank has developed the Business
Continuity Plans and Alternate Operations Sites to ensure business continuity during crisis situations.

The Branch’s risk management functions department are responsible for designing and implementing
operational risk framework, tools, risk indicators and methodologies in their responsible areas. General
Manager delegates authority to Risk Management and Internal Control Committee to monitor the
operational risk of the Bank. Internal control and audit carries out regular assessment on the situations
and the Head Office Audit Department will carry out audit review regularly and on ad-hoc basis. The
result of the review will be reported to the Branch’s senior management, relevant department and
Senior Management of the Head Office. The review may cover the activities of the Branch as well as
an overview of the support units.

In order to enhance the staff awareness to attain a consistent and accurate operation standard
compliance circulars, policies and procedures are issued and regular training is provided to staff. All
Head of Divisions should monitor and manage the operational risk specific to their units. The Branch’s
Compliance Officer is charged with the responsibility to management compliance issues of the Branch.
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31. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

There are no events after the reporting date that require disclosure in these financial statements.
32. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the management of the Branch on
26 March 2025.
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